
Homicides of Adults in Lancaster County, VirginiaPRIVATE 

Lancaster 1850 census:  pp. 275-

Lancaster 1870 census:  pp. 173-

C. Jackson Simmons, "Twenty-Five Decades of Court History in Lancaster County," Northern Neck of Virginia Historical Magazine 34: 1 (Dec., 1984), 3878-3900.  F232 N86 N8

DO LATER:  3897-90.  On a murder on 3/31/1896.  John Johnson m. Charles L. Carter.

Class of death:   

Class of crime:   

Relationship:    

Motive:  


Intoxication?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:


Time of day:


Days until death:  


SUSPECT(s):


VICTIM(s):



Cause of death:  


Circumstances:   

Inquest:   


Indictment:  


Term of court:  


Court proceedings:  

Legal records:  
Newspapers:
Other sources:  
Census:  
Genealogy:  

Suspect:  



Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:



Age:




Phys char:



Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Personal history:  


Victim:  



Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:



Age:




Phys char:



Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Personal history:  


 [1660]




RAP

CT


NOTE:  occurred in another county

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  UNK

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  Rice Powell and George Norman m. an Indian


Weapon:  


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment?  


Term?:  


Court proceedings:  
Legal records:  
Lanc. Co. Order Book, 1656-1666:  p. 140:


SE 3/14/1661:  "Wherease two prisoners [servants] to Mr. Sam: Griffin (haveinge killd an Indian & were committed to the Sheriff of ye Countie of Rappahannocke) were by order of that Countie Court: sent unto this Countie and by this court returned thither again.  This Cort: in instificacon of this sd. order, have declared the Sheriffe have [ ] appointed Jo: Parks [sp?] to prosecute the sd. businesse in defence of this Countie."


SE 10/23/1661 (160):  to Mr. Chetwode for returning 2 prisoners, 500 l.t. (account listed under tithes -- could be the same case)

[Old] Rappahannock Co. Records, Deeds, Wills, Settlements of Estates, 1656-1664 (transcript)


SE 3/29/1661 (176):  Quarterly Court held at James City.  Rice Powell and George Norman, servants of Mr. Samuel Griffen of Rappahannock bound over to this court for the killing of an Indian "yt. they have a long time been in prison" in the county.  SG said that he had given the chief of the nation to whom the Indian belonged "Satisfaccon for the death & also for the time that they have been in prison."  Brought them to James City for trial.  Court rules that SG ought not to pay the costs of trial and imprisonment; the county should.

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

Rice Powell

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

servant to Mr. Samuel Griffen

Town:


RAP

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 2:  

George Norman

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

servant to Mr. Samuel Griffen

Town:


RAP

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:


Ind

Gender:



Age:


[adult]

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1653




LAN

CT


CHECK:  a problem with chronology here.  Rountree sets the date of Taweeren's death "sometime" before Nov. 1655 and after late 1654 when the General Assembly authorized the Lancaster, Westmoreland, and Northumberland co. militias to combine:  but the session at which Taweeren's death is noted occurred in October 1653.  Check my date, but I think Rountree is mistaken on the timing.  She is probably correct, however, about the causes of Taweeren's slaying.

Class:   probable

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  POLITICAL

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  unk. person [prob. a colonist] m. Taweeren (an Indian)


Weapon:  unknown


Circumstances:  Rountree:  perhaps occurred at a meeting at which English leaders demanded reparations from the Rappahanocks for damage to livestock, trespassing, etc.


Inquest:  


Indictment?  no


Term?:  SE 10/24/1653


Court proceedings:  n

Legal records:  

Lanc. Co. Deeds & Wills, 1652-7 (95):  accounts.  "To Tho: Willm"son for his paines amongst ye Indyans when Taweeren was kild."  Paid 150 l.t.


Rountree (1990: 92-3):  on 9/14/1653, Lancaster Co. "made a treaty of its own with the Rappahannock chiefdom, in which both sides agreed that wronged Indians should take their complaints to the country court, that the weroance and his council would be tried in court for their people's stealing of English livestock, and that reparations would be accepted for killed livestock if the weroance reported the matter promptly."  Lancaster Co. Orders 3: 125-6.



Problem:  settlers continued to take up land & shoot Indians who "trespassed" on it, which the Indians resented.  "Late in 1654 the militias of Lancaster, Westmoreland, and Northumberland counties were combined and instructed to demand reparations from the Rappahannocks.  That meeting, or a subsequent one, became a brawl in which the tribe's weroance, Taweeren, was killed."  His death occurred before 12/1655.  Hening 1: 389-90.  Lancaster Co. Deeds: 95.

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:


[w]

Gender:

[m]

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

Taweeren

Ethnicity:

Rappahannock

Race:


Ind

Gender:

m

Age:


[adult]

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

weroance

Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1654




LAN

CT

Class:   probable

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  UNK

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  unk. white person m. unk. Indian man


Weapon:  unknown


Circumstances:  taking gun from an Indian man.  The gun had been lent to the Indian illegally by Dominic Therriot.


Inquest:  


Indictment?  no


Term?:  SE 10/6/1654


Court proceedings:  n

Legal records:  

Lanc. Co. Deeds & Wills, 1652-7 (163):  Dominic Therriot "hath been impleaded this Court for lendinge of a Gun to an Indyan" contrary to the law.  Appears that William Denby delivered the gun to the Indian & procured powder & shot to load the same.  Order:  DT to pay 1300 l.t. of the 2000 l.t. due by Act of Asembly & WD the other 700 l.t. & costs (to be shared by DT & WD).  One half of the costs to be paid to Daniel Jones, who gave the information, & the other half to the county.  Major Jno. Carter & Wm Clapham, Jr. are to have 30 l.t. each "for hire of two men two dayes to round ye house of" Margaret Grimes "for ye death of ye Indyan from whome ye aforesd. Gun was taken."

NOTE:  SE 6/6/1654 (146):  ordered that Henry Rye & Jno. Buch be arrested to the next court & that Wm Harpar be present to prosecute Toby Horton "for lendinge guns to ye Indyans."  //  SE 10/6/1654 (164):  Toby Horton to pay 2000 l.t. (100 l.t. to WH & the rest to the county), plus costs.

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:


Ind

Gender:

m

Age:


[adult]

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1666




LAN

CT

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    UNK [NONDOM]

Motive:  UNK

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  Edward Boswell m. Thomas Thompson


Weapon:  unknown


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment?  yes, murder


Term?:  9/1666t


Court proceedings:  suspected of murder.  fG.  Sent to General Court.  He may have been executed for the 11/14/1666 court’s first entry is about seizing the Boswell’s widow’s estate.  Refers to EB as "deceased."  [prob. fG:  death]

Legal records:  

Lancaster Co. COB 12 Sep 1666 (11); SE 1/9/1667 (21), witnesses reimbursed for travel to the trial before the Gen. Ct.

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:

Lanc. Co. Orders 1666-1680:  SE 1/28/1663 & 5/11/1663 (208, 220):  TT, late servant to Mr. William Bawdes, deceased, had served his master 5 yrs.  Granted him his freedom, & his corn & clothes from WB's estate.


SE 4/11/1666 (374):  Joseph Kobbs, servant to EB, came into country without indenture:  ordered to serve 5 yrs.  //  EB also in various civil suits for sizeable sums of tobacco.  //  SE 9/10/1662 (189) EB granted right to transport 4 male servants to Va.  Had 7 tithes in the tax list fr. that point on.


NOTE:  TT described as a planter in the court record discussing the murder, but never on a tax list.

Accused 1:  

Edward Boswell

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

planter -- 7 tithables in hhld in 1666

Town:


Lanc. Co.

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

Thomas Thompson

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

planter

Town:


Lancaster Co.

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1666, [Sept.]




LAN

CT

Class:   uncertain examination

Crime:   poss HOM / suspicious

Rela:    HHLD SERVANT by MASTER

Motive:  ABUSE

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  Richard Price suspected of m. Endymion Inlehorne (servant of Richard Price)


Weapon:  "(being a common runnaway & one that did use to fayne hym selfe sicke), haveing been switched by his master, did very shortlie after dye."  [whip]


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  verdict:  "did . . . acquitt" RP in EI's death.


Indictment?  


Term?:  9/12/1666


Court proceedings:  The court "puttinge the sde. Verdict [by the inquest] together wth: the severall deposicons in the sde. businesse, doe hereby declare" RP "innocent."  RP to pay costs.

Legal records:  
Lanc. Co. Orders, 1666-1680 (10)

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

Richard Price 

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

planter -- "Mr. Price" had 8 tithables in hhld in 1665; Robert Price had 7 tithables in hhld in 1666; Richard Price had 4 tithables in hhld in 1667

Town:


LAN

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

Endymion Inlehorne 

Ethnicity:

[unknown]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

servant of Richard Price

Town:


LAN

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1674, [July]




LAN

CT

Class:   probable

Crime:   HOM MANSL

Rela:    HHLD SERVANT by OVERSEER

Motive:  DISCIPLINE / PUNISHMENT

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  Edward Gilson [Gibson?] suspected of m. Robert Biss (servant to Major Robert Bristow)


Weapon:  


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment?  bnf for murder:  justified


Term?:  7/1674


Court proceedings:  EG brought to court "by a Note from Mr. Thomas Haynes, a member of this Court."  "divers witnesses" examined.  fNG.  The court "doth not finde" that EG "did doe any thing to" RB "but what was justifiable to bee done by an Overseer to Servts., under his command."  EG acquitted, ordered to pay costs.

Legal records:  

Lanc. Co. COB 8 Jul 1674

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

Edward Gilson [Gibson]

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

[overseer for Maj. Robert Bristow]

Town:


LAN

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

Robert Biss 

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

servant to Major Robert Bristow

Town:


LAN

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1675, [May]




LAN

CT

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    HHLD MASTER by SERVANT

Motive:  UNK

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  James Burges (servant of William Norton) suspected of m. William Norton


Weapon:  unknown


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment?  yes, murder


Term?:  SE 5/28/1675


Court proceedings:  special court.  fG.  Ordered:  to remain in custody of Mr. Brian Stott (the county sheriff) without bail until the next Gen. Ct. at James City.  Wit. bound:  Elizabeth Norton (WN's wife).

Legal records:  

Lanc. Co. Orders 1666-1680 (323-4)

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

James Burges 

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

servant of William Norton

Town:


LAN

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

William Norton

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:

m. Elizabeth

Children:




Occupation:

planter -- 4 tithables in hhld in 1674

Town:


LAN

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1682, June 18




LAN

CT

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    RELATIVE THIRD-PARTY by SON-IN-LAW

Motive:  VICTIM INTERVENED in FAMILY QUARREL

Intox?:  

Day of week:
Sun

Holiday?:



Time of day:
night

Days to death:  0


HOM:  Mrs. Martha Norris and Edward Husband (MN's son-in-law) suspected of m. John Wilford


Weapon:  by "stabbs in his body."  [knife]


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  Jury:  "we doe find to be murthered by [  ] stabbs in his body supposeing they to bee done wth: an knife did see stabs under his left [ ] wound yt: killed him, one greate stab on ye [ ] and other on ye left elbow severall [ ] there was suppose to be [ ]."


Indictment?  murder


Term?:  7/1682


Court proceedings:  MN & EH arrested for murder.  MN:  fNG.  acquitted, no evidence.  EH:  fG.  DEATH.  Executed.  Wit. bound:  Elizabeth Wilford (wife of Jonathan Wilford), Thomas Goodyard.  SE 3/16/1686 (p. 237):  had been convicted and executed for murder.

Executed (this by inference, for his “estate” is taken care of by the sheriff and the jurors of the trial of Husband “then a prisoner” are paid out of his estate at the Jan 1682/3 court.  //  Jan 1685:  "Edward Husband not long since convicted and executed for murder . . ."

Legal records:  
Lanc. Co. Orders, 1680-1686, v. 2:  91-4.  SE 12 Jul 1682


TESTIMONY


Elizabeth Wilford (27, signed):  On Sunday, June 18, JW, her late husband, "called mee unto him" & said Dr. Husband "hath given mee my death wound & desired mee to pray for him & farther sde. yt: if Mrs. Norris begon, shee will bee saved, farther saith yt: hee tooke Docktor Husband by ye hands & saide I forgive you, but God will not."


Martha Norris (50, signed):  on Sunday, 6/18, Mr. Edward Husband & wit's daughter (EH's wife), "being in bedd words did arise betweene them conserning my Husband, Miles, wch: did much disturbe yor: Depont: [ ] soe much yt: yor" Depont: arose saying doe nott abuse my dead Husband and hee layd hands on your Depont. wch: caused her to crie out murder, Whereupon Wilford & his Wife came & saide will you murder her; then her [ ] yor: Deponet. goe & quarrelled wth: Wilford but they were parted where upon yor: Depont. perceving yt: ye sde. Wilford was bleeding & did [ ] & funde a wounde under his left breast."


Elizabeth Husband (15, signed):  at night, in bed with her husband on 6/18, words passed b/w wit. & her husband (EH) concerning EH's father, Mr. David Miles, "wch: did much disturbe" wit. & wit.'s mother, "in soe much yt: she arose and [ ] very unworthy to abuse my dead Husband."  ditto from there, after EH laid hands on MN, MN cried murder, JW & his wife came & JW said "doe you intend to murther her, hee did then lett her goe & quarrelled" with JW, "but they [ ] when [ ] Goodyard parted, yor: Deponts. Husdband then sde. you dogg I will be [ ] on you, & soe gott ye sd. Wilford down on ye ground & kept him there some time & imediately after his rising ye sd. Wilford droped down being dead."


____ (a servant of Wilford):  ditto.  [mostly torn, illeg.]

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
COB v. 2: p. 93.  SE 7/12/1682:  Elizabeth Wilford als Taylor [or Taylor alias Wilford] made an oath that Jonathan Boateman "did beget on her boddy 2 base borne CHildren at one time & yt: noe but her did gett [  ]."  JB to pay church wardens of Parish Church of White Chapel 800 l.t. for fornication.


COB v. 2: p. 84.  SE 5/10/1682:  Mr. Edward Husband acknowledges that he had received the full estate belonging to Elizabeth, his now wife, out of her father's estate, Mr. David Myles (deceased).  The securities for DM's estate were thereby discharged.  //  COB v. 2: 85:  "difference" b/w Nathaniel Blackston of Maryland & EH, dft., dism.  //  COB v. 2: p. 103:  SE 1/16/1683:  order to produce an inventory of the estate of EH, deceased.


COB 1680-96, SE 2/9/1681 (33):  Jonathan Spencer, servant to Martha Norris, ran away for 60 days; William Feilder, servant to Martha Norris, ran away for 31 days.  Each ordered to pay costs & serve double the time they were missing at the end of their terms.

Accused 1:  

Martha Norris

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

f
Age:


50

Literate:

y

Marital Status:  
widow [Mr. David Miles, her late husband]

Children:


yes, at least one daught.

Occupation:

planter; 3 tithables under her name, "Mrs. Norris," in 1681; not on tax list in 1682  (seems the property had passed to EH by then)

Town:


LAN

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 2:  

Edward Husband 

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  
m. to Elizabeth (15), Martha Norris's daughter

Children:




Occupation:

surgeon or physician; 5 tithables on 1682 levy list; not on tax list in 1681

Town:


LAN

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

John Wilford

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:

m. Elizabeth

Children:




Occupation:

not on tax lists

Town:


LAN

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1687




LAN

CT

Class:   probable

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    HHLD SERVANT by MASTER

Motive:  UNK

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  William Lax m. James Baxter (his servant)


Weapon:  


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment?  murder


Term?:  12/1687


Court proceedings:  WL arrested “upon suspicion . . . his having murdered JP.  fG.  Sent for trial at “the next Genl Court held at James Citty.  [prob. fNG or fG of mansl., as his subsequent return to Lanc. Co. indicates]  Wit.:  John Coates (married, his wife ill & 1 tithe in 1688)

Legal records:  

Lanc. Co. COB 14 Dec 1687 (58)

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:

COB 1680-96:  SE 5/12/1686 (243):  JB's indenture [& those of 8 other men who were servants to Col. John Carter & Mr. Robert ___] to persons in England declared null and void, "not being made before the Lord Mayor or Justice of the Peace accordinge to his Maties Procalamation."


COB 1680-96:  SE 9/12 & 10/10/1688 (88-90):  WL involved in civil litigation.  WL, plf., v. John Coates, dft.  "a difference."  Apparently over WL's obligation to pay JC's costs as a wit. agst. WL at his trial in James City.  Also acknowledged his debt of 1985 l.t. to Richard Nusum.

Accused 1:  

William Lax 

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

planter; 1683 & 1687 tax lists, 2 tithables; 1688 1 tithable

Town:


LAN

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

James Baxter

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

servant of WL

Town:


LAN

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1704, June 13 




LAN

CT

Class:   probable

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    HHLD SERVANT by MASTER

Motive:  ABUSE

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:
8am - 10am.

Days to death:  0


HOM:  John Bush m. John Sandall


Weapon:  beaten with sticks & hoe helve.  d. 6/13.


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment?  yes, murder


Term?:  7/4/1704


Court proceedings:  fG.  to General Court.  JB released on bond pending his trial at the Gen. Ct.

Legal records:  

Orders 5, 85-91.  [Great testimony.]  SE 4 Jul 1704:  Murder
Other sources:
C. Jackson Simmons, "Twenty-Five Decades of Court History in Lancaster County," Northern Neck of Virginia Historical Magazine 34: 1 (Dec., 1984), 3889.


A small plantation cultivated by the master, mistress, & their indentured servants.  Other servants testified to abusive beatings with cherry & hickory sticks while JS was hoeing in the garden.  His body, buried in the presence of neighbors but without an inquest, was exhumed & examined by a medical doctor 11 days after burial.  JB bound to appear for trial at Wmsb.


John Bush suspected in death of John Sandall.  Sandall was Bush's servant.


TEST:  Robert Stuart (17, servant of Jno. Bush).  JS d. 6/13.  "Hee was swelled as he had been for some time before."  On the 13th, JB sent RS & JS into the field before sunrise.  JB came into the field a half hour after sunrise.  JB said to JS "God damn you if you are able to run away He make you worke to wch Sandall replyed he was not about to run away."  JB "continued threattning him."  Then about 8am, JB beat JS with "a peach tree stick as big as my thumb . . . about the back and thighs."  In response to the question, "Did you see any blood arrise from any stroaks [sic] he received by the beating," Stuart replied, "Noe."  They went into breakfast a half hour later & JS ate "as heartily as he was used to doe."  Master sent them back to work as soon as they finished eating.  Master came into the field soon after, with a switch, & told JS to "make fast & pull up or else he would lick him, to whch he answered he would make what haste he was able."  Master replied "G-d d-n you ill make you make more hast, then he beat" JS with the switch he had in his hand [about 1" thick, of cherry wood] on the shoulders & the side.  They were working in the corn rows at the time.  Then JB beat JS about the head with a hoe helve.  After that, JS kept working "according to his strength."  JS "begged for ye Lord sake to leave of and said he worked as hard as he could."  JB beat him again after that with a hickory switch with two prongs twisted & tied with bark.  J then "begged for ye Lord sake not to kill him, and said he did as much work as he could."  JB then kicked JS down & went to cut another switch.  JS rose again, took his hoe, & went back to work.  JB came back with a new hickory switch & beat JS again.  JS "prayd him againe for ye Lords sake to lett him alone and he would doe what he could, and his master kickt him down and have dirt in his mouth."  JB went and cut another peach switch & came to JS, "and the fellow was hardly able to gett up," & JB kicked him about the shoulders.  When JS got up, JB whipped him again.  JS said "for ye Lords sake master lett me cleer my throat" as JB beat him, & JB said "G-d D-n him he would cleer his throat for him" & whipped him again & kicked him down.  JS lay on the ground & did not get up.  JB went for another switch, returned, & said "I beleive [sic] this fellow is in a fitt and then took hold of his shoulders and drawed him over two corn rowsunder ye shade of ye peach tree" & said "I believe this fellow is in a fitt sure enough."  JB bid wit. to bring JS some water.  JB put some water down JS's mouth but could not move JS's mouth.  JB sent wit. back to house for some boards to carry JS to the house.  Wit. came back & JS was dead.  JB said he was not sure JS was dead, but "my dame said yt G-d she warrant you he is dead enough and she said to my master pray ___, now you have done yor dayes work."  JB said to his wife "pritthee Peggy dont you get to lett it about that I have killd him and she sd noe faith she would neither make it better nor worse."  They put old breeches on JS (who had been wearing just a shirt) to cover the marks on the thighs & carried him into the little house "and throw him down upon some boards."  JB ordered wit. to bury JS right away.  Wit. said that JS had been subject to fits & that he never bled from the wounds.  Only master, mistress, wit., & JS had been in the field that day.


TEST:  Richard Woods (38, planter who occupied a neighboring plantation):  heard of the facts from RS & from Bush's children & from wit.'s own children.  RS told RW that JB "had beat his man untill he had killd him."


TEST:  Jane Bush (32, wife of JB):  said that she had not seen how JS died & that her husband called her to the field after JS was dead.  Saw the body before it was buried -- not many marks on it.  At the burial:  Dennis Cammeron & wife, Robert Gibson & wife, John Buxson, Wm Accus [?], & wit.  Buried late in the afternoon on 6/13.


TEST:  for the Queen, by physicians.  The body was examined 11 days after burial.


TEST:  John Bush:  "To ye best of my remembrance I gave him a lick or two and noe more."  Said JS had been ill a month but had not made much complaint.  Said JS did not speak after they carried him to the house & put him on a bed.

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

John Bush

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  
m

Children:




Occupation:

planter

Town:


LAN

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

John Sandall

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

servant of John Bush

Town:


LAN

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1713




LAN

CT


NOTE:  probably related to the three claims that Robinson filed simultaneously in Middlesex County.  All outlawed slaves.  Assume the slave noted here also died violently as a result of the pursuit of a posse.

Class:   probable

Crime:   poss HOM MANSL / poss SUI DRO / poss CAS DRO

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  JUSTIFIED -- OUTLAWED SLAVE

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  a white posse possibly m. an outlawed slave of Christopher Robinson


Weapon:  drowned


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment?  


Term?:  10/1713


Court proceedings:  claim for outlawed slave who drowned in Lancaster County.

Legal records:  
Lancaster County Order Book  6, 1713-1721:  4/9/1713 - 7/12/1721:  SE 10/24/1713 (23)


CLAIM for OUTLAWED SLAVE who DROWNED in the county:  slave of Christopher Robinson.  SEE ALSO Lancaster County.

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:


b

Gender:




Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1722, May 15




LAN

CT

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    HHLD SLAVE by SLAVE

Motive:  UNK

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:
night

Days to death:  


HOM:  Wapping (a Negro Slave belonging to William Heale) m. Guy (another Negro Slave belonging to William Heale) 


Weapon:  "axes, clubs &c."


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment?  murder


Term?:  5/30/1722


Court proceedings:  O&T.  pG.  Hanged 6/2.   Value:  40 l.

Legal records:  

Lanc. Co. COB 7: 47-8.  SE 30 May 1722

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

Wapping 

Ethnicity:



Race:


b

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

slave belonging to William Heale

Town:


LAN

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

Guy 

Ethnicity:



Race:


b

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

slave belonging to William Heale

Town:


LAN

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1725, Dec. 27




LAN

CT

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  UNK

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:
night

Days to death:  


HOM:  George (slave of William Ballantine) m. Harry (slave of William Bertrand)


Weapon:  beat with clubs, axes, etc.


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment?  murder


Term?:  1/1726


Court proceedings:  O&T.  pNG.  fG of manslaughter; "burnt in the hand"  Wit.:  Tom (slave of James Hosley) & Bess & Nann (slaves of William Bertrand).

Legal records:  

Lanc. Co. 7: 192-4.  SE 15 Jan 1726

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

George 

Ethnicity:



Race:


b

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

slave of William Ballantine

Town:


LAN

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

Harry 

Ethnicity:



Race:


b

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

slave of William Bertrand

Town:


LAN

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1730




LAN

CT

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  JUSTIFIED / OUTLAWED

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  unk. white posse members [prob. William Edwards and Thomas Crowder] m. Mingo


Weapon:  unknown


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment?  


Term?:  4/8/1730


Court proceedings:  Robert Carter, Esq. pet. the court to "set a value on his negro man named Mingo lately killed by virtue of an outlawrey from the County."  The court certified an allowance of 26 l. sterling to the assembly for him.  Depositions of William Edwards and Thomas Crowder "concerning" Mingo "who was killed by virtue of an outlawry from this County."  

Legal records:  

Lanc. Co. Orders 8: 9, 11

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

[prob. William Edwards and Thomas Crowder]

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


LAN

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

Mingo

Ethnicity:



Race:


b

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

slave of Robert Carter, Esq.

Town:


LAN

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1737, Jan. 27




LAN

CT

P

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  UNK

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:
night

Days to death:  


HOM:  Dick (slave of John Stepto of Northumberland Co., gent.) m. Ben (slave of Hon. John Carter, Esq. of Lancaster Co.)


Weapon:  axes, clubs, swords, and knives


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment?  yes, murder


Term?:  2/8/1737


Court proceedings:  O&T.  pNG.  fG.  DEATH.  To hang 2/11 (Friday) b/w 10am & noon.  Value:  35 l.  Wit. for comm.:  William Stepto (gent.); Thomas Hunton; Dick, Nan, & Isaac (slaves of William Stepto); Bess (slave of John Stepto).  

Legal records:  

Lanc. Co. Orders, 1729-1743:  v. 8:  159.

Newspaper:

VGaz,  2/ 4/1737:32  Burning for murder by slaves in Lancaster Co., VA:  "Two Commissions for Courts of Oyer and Terminer, have been issued this week, for the Tryal of Negroes, One for Trying a Negro Woman, for the barbarous Murder of her Mistress, (Wife of Mr. Prudden, in Nansemond County) with a Board Axe.  The other, for Trying a Negro Man, belonging to Mr. Stepsoe, of Lancaster County, for killing a Negro Man, belonging to Mr. Secretary Carter."

Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

Dick 

Ethnicity:



Race:


b
Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

slave of John Steptoe of Northumberland Co., gent. 

Town:


[LAN]

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

Ben 

Ethnicity:



Race:


b

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

slave of Hon. [Mr. Secretary] John Carter, Esq. of Lancaster Co.

Town:


LAN

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:

Title:  Mr. Secretary [of the House of Burgesses?  General Court?]

1745, Sept. 4




LAN

CT

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  UNK

Intox?:  

Day of week:
w
Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  John Skerum (alias John Lingard) (servant man belonging to David Galloway, Northumberland) m. Tobias Horton, Jr.


Weapon:  unknown


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment?  murder


Term?:  5/1746


Court proceedings:  Charged with "ye Barbarous Murder of Tobias Horton Junr."  fG.  Sent to Williamsburg.  O&T.  Wit.:  Tobias Horton, John Horton, George Horton, Abraham Gregory, John Kelley, George Wale.  Depositions from Elizabeth Waller of Perth Amboy, NJ (d.d. 1/22/1746).  Also depositions of David Galloway, George Horton, George Wale, Abraham Gregory, Anthony Garton, Jr.  Wit. bound.

Legal records:  

Lanc. Co. 9: 99.  SE 31 May 1746

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

John Skerum (alias John Lingard) 

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

servant man belonging to David Galloway of Northumberland Co. 

Town:


LAN

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

Tobias Horton Junr
Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


LAN

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1748




LAN

CT


NOTE:  the court pursued the charge -- clearly, there were witnesses willing to testify and enough signs of a violent death to pursue the case.

Class:   probable

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    HHLD SLAVE by MISTRESS

Motive:  UNK

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  Hannah Crump accused of m. Jinny (slave of husband Adam Crump)


Weapon:  


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment?  no, murder charg


Term?:  1/1748


Court proceedings:  dism.  Wit.:  William McDearmont, Thomas Phillips, Margaret Fortiscue (a servant woman of Adam Crump) bound to appear at next co. court to give evidence agst. HC.

Legal records:  

Lanc. Co. 9: 149.  SE 14 Jan 1748

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

Hannah Crump 

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

f

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  
m. Adam

Children:




Occupation:

[plantation mistress]

Town:


LAN

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

Jinny 

Ethnicity:



Race:


b

Gender:

f

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

slave of Adam Crump (husband of Hannah)

Town:


LAN

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1753, [May]




LAN

CT


NOTE:  uncertain whether they killed Montron or only plotted to kill him.  Seems the latter, especially because Dick was only charged with a felony, not with murder.  So count as uncertain.

Class:   uncertain

Crime:   poss HOM / SUI

Rela:    HHLD OVERSEER by SLAVES

Motive:  UNK

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  Harry (slave belonging to the estate of the Honorable John Carter Esq.) [and possibly Dick] conspired to murder William Montron (Harry's overseer)


Weapon:  


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment?  Dick:  yes, felony.  fG.  DEATH.  Value 40 l.  Harry:  "drowned himself" before he could be captured.  Suspected of plotting and conspiring to murder his overseer.  Fled.  "for the sd Harry's Plotting & Conspiring the murder of William Montron his overseer . . ."  Value:  40 l.


Term?:  5/1753


Court proceedings:  Dick:  O&T.  fG.  Hanged.  Harry:  "Having drowned himself in a Pursuit from the Sheriff of this County" 

Legal records:  

Lanc. Co. COB 30 May 1753 (138-140)

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

Harry

Ethnicity:



Race:


b

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

slave of estate of the Honorable John Carter Esq.

Town:


LAN

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 2:  

Dick

Ethnicity:



Race:


b

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

slave

Town:


LAN

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

William Montron

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

overseer for estate of the Honorable John Carter Esq.

Town:


LAN

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1766, [Mar.]




LAN

CT

Class:   possible

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    UNK [NONDOM]

Motive:  UNK

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  George Dogget m. unk. person


Weapon:  


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment?  murder


Term?:  3/19/1766


Court proceedings:  EXAM COURT:  evidence heard.  Ought not to be tried.  disch.

Legal records:  

COB 12, 1764-7 (176-7)

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

George Dogget

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:




Age:


[adult]

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1766, [Aug.]




LAN

CT

Class:   possible

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    UNK [NONDOM]

Motive:  UNK

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  John Mason m. unk. person


Weapon:  


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment?  murder


Term?:  8/25/1766


Court proceedings:  EXAM COURT:  evidence heard.  Ought not to be tried.  disch.

Legal records:  

COB 12, 1764-7 (215)

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

John Mason

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:




Age:


[adult]

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1768, [Jan.]




LAN

CT

Class:   possible

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    UNK [NONDOM]

Motive:  UNK

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  William Rit m. unk. person


Weapon:  


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment?  murder


Term?:  1/30/1768


Court proceedings:  EXAM COURT:  wit. heard, & pri. in his own defense.  Ought not to be tried.  disch.

Legal records:  

Orders, 13: 39

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

William Rit

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:




Age:


[adult]

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1769, Dec.





LAN

GOVT

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  JUSTIFIED / OUTLAWED

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  unk. whites m. Tom, Matt, and Phil (and aik. two other adult slaves)


Weapon:  musket


Circumstances:  insurrection -- killed or wounded by whites who suppressed the rebellion


Inquest:  


Indictment?  


Term?:  


Court proceedings:  see below:  pet. to House of Burgesses for compensation.  Granted.

Legal records:  

Virginia House of Burgesses:  5/28/1770 (29-30):  HOM OUTLAW:  3 OUTLAWS KILLED:  INSURRECTION:  pet. of Bowler Cocke & Charles Carter [a Burgess from Lancaster Co.], Esquires [& gentlemen]:  in the suppression of an insurrection of slaves in Dec. 1769, 2 of the insurgents were killed & 3 so wounded that one of them is since dead & the others are not yet recovered.  Of which 5 slaves BC was entitled to the use of for the life of his wife Elizabeth, and CC "had the property."  5/30 (33):  John Wyatt, Francis Smith, & Joseph Foster enter claim for guns that were used in suppressing the insurrection & were "spoiled in the Action."  6/22 (92):  allowed 85 l. for Tom, 100 l. for Matt, 85 l. for Phil, & 25 l. for dressing wounds of the others involved in the insurrection.  6/26 (100):  allowed the claims for the guns.

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:


[w]

Gender:

[m]

Age:


[adult]

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


[LAN]

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:
  
Tom

Ethnicity:



Race:


b

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

slave owned by Charles Carter, Esq. (gentleman, burgess from Lanc. Co.); Bowler Cocke has the use of the slave during the life of his wife Elizabeth

Town:


LAN

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 2:
  
Matt

Ethnicity:



Race:


b

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

slave owned by Charles Carter, Esq. (gentleman, burgess from Lanc. Co.); Bowler Cocke has the use of the slave during the life of his wife Elizabeth

Town:


LAN

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 3:
  
Phil

Ethnicity:



Race:


b

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

slave owned by Charles Carter, Esq. (gentleman, burgess from Lanc. Co.); Bowler Cocke has the use of the slave during the life of his wife Elizabeth

Town:


LAN

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 4:
  
___

Ethnicity:



Race:


b

Gender:

[m]

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

slave owned by Charles Carter, Esq. (gentleman, burgess from Lanc. Co.); Bowler Cocke has the use of the slave during the life of his wife Elizabeth

Town:


LAN

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 5:
  
___

Ethnicity:



Race:


b

Gender:

[m]

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

slave owned by Charles Carter, Esq. (gentleman, burgess from Lanc. Co.); Bowler Cocke has the use of the slave during the life of his wife Elizabeth

Town:


LAN

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1771




LAN

CT

NOTE:  in poisoning cases, follow the authorities and their decisions

Class:   uncertain examination

Crime:   poss HOM / suspicious

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  UNK

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  Toby (slave of Simon Degge) and Jerry and Fanny (slaves of Samuel Hinton's estate) m. Nell and Hannah (slaves of John Fleet)


Weapon:  poison


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment?  murder


Term?:  7/1771


Court proceedings:  both fNG.

Legal records:  
Lanc. Co. COB 11 Jul 1771

Jerry and Fanny, NG; Toby guilty of "administering medicine"; 25 lashes

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

Toby

Ethnicity:



Race:


b

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

slave of Simon Degge

Town:


LAN

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 2:  

Jerry

Ethnicity:



Race:


b

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

slave of Samuel Hinton's estate

Town:


LAN

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 3:  

Fanny 

Ethnicity:



Race:


b

Gender:

f

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

slave of Samuel Hinton's estate

Town:


LAN

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

Nell 

Ethnicity:



Race:


b

Gender:

f

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

slave of John Fleet

Town:


LAN

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 2:  

Hannah 

Ethnicity:



Race:


b

Gender:

f

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

slave of John Fleet

Town:


LAN

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1782




LAN

CT

P

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  FEUD

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  Maurice Wheeler m. Bailie George 


Weapon:  unknown


Circumstances:  long-simmering feud


Inquest:  


Indictment?  murder


Term?:  7/1782


Court proceedings:  fG.  Sent on to General Court in Richmond.  fG.  DEATH.  Exec.

Legal records:  

Lanc. Co. COB 10 Jul 1782

Newspaper:

* HOM:  Maurice Wheeler from Lancaster Co. exec. near Richmond for m.  Virginia Gazette or American Advertiser (Richmond) 11/30/1782.

Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

Maurice Wheeler 

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


LAN

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

Bailie George 

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


LAN

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1783, Dec. 28




LAN

CT

P

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    NONDOM 

Motive:  UNK

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  John Sullivant m. John Taylor (gent.)


Weapon:  unknown


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment?  murder


Term?:  1/1784


Court proceedings:  fG.  Sent on for trial at General Court in Richmond.  fNG.  disch. by proclamation.


NOTE:  JS was himself murdered in 1793.

Legal records:  

Lanc. Co. COB 3 Jan 1784

Newspaper:

* HOM:  John Sullivant of Lancaster Co. brought to General Ct. for the murder of Col. Taylor.  Discharged by proclamation.  Virginia Gazette and Weekly Advertiser (Richmond) 4/10/1784.

Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

John Sullivant 

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


LAN

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

John Taylor

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

gentleman

Town:


LAN

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1788




LAN

CT

Class:   possible

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  UNK

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  John Fendla (Sr.) and John Fendla, Jr. suspected of m. James Yerby


Weapon:  unknown


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment?  murder


Term?:  1/1788


Court proceedings:  fNG.

Legal records:  

Lanc. Co. COB 26 Jan 1788

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

John Fendla, Sr.

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


LAN

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 2:  

John Fendla, Jr. 

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


LAN

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

James Yerby

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


LAN

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1793




LAN

CT

Class:   possible

Crime:   HOM MANSL

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  UNK

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  Hickman Ross m. John Sullivant


Weapon:  


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment?  mansl.  "Feloniously causing death"


Term?:  7/1793


Court proceedings:  fNG.

Legal records:  

Lanc. Co. COB  13 Jul 1793

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

Hickman Ross

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


LAN

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

John Sullivant

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


LAN

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1795, Aug. 16




LAN

CT

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    UNK WHITE by SLAVE

Motive:  UNK

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:
night

Days to death:  0


HOM:  Ned and Sam m. Richard Davis


Weapon:  with "large wooden sticks and staves."  Broke the skull.


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment?  murder


Term?:  8/1795


Court proceedings:  O&T.  Ned pG.  Hanged.  Sam pNG.  Court not unanimous, so Sam is discharged.  Ned's body "to be well & sufficiently hung in irons on a Gibbet to be Erected thirty feet high from the Surface of the Earth" at the plantation where he belonged.

Legal records:  

Lanc. Co. COB 24 Aug 1795.  (Orders 20T, 230-1)

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

Ned 

Ethnicity:



Race:


b

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

slave

Town:


LAN

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 2:  

Sam

Ethnicity:



Race:


b

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

slave

Town:


LAN

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

Richard Davis

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


Christ Church parish, LAN

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1797




LAN

CT

Class:   possible

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    HHLD SLAVE by MASTER

Motive:  UNK

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  George Ball m. Billy (slave of George Ball)


Weapon:  


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment?  no, charged with murder


Term?:  10/1797


Court proceedings:  Discharged, insufficient evidence.

Legal records:  

Lanc. Co. COB 2 Oct 1797

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

George Ball 

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

[planter]

Town:


LAN

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

Billy 

Ethnicity:



Race:


b

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

slave of George Ball

Town:


LAN

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1801




LAN

CT

Class:   possible

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    UNK

Motive:  UNK

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  0


HOM:  unk. person m. Lewis (slave of estate of Isaac Deggs)


Weapon:  suspected to have been shot


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  Report of the coroner, William Kirk: “View[ed] the body of a negro man slave by the name of Lewis belonging to the estate of Isaac Deggs decd, which was supposed to be shot . . . I then proceeded to have the body dug up but when we came to the coffin and tuck [sic] the lid off the body was in such a state of preterfaction [sic] that we could proceed no farther.”


Indictment?  no suspect identified


Term?:  12/1801


Court proceedings:  fled
Legal records:  
Lanc. Co. COB  21 Dec 1801

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:




Age:





Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

Lewis 

Ethnicity:



Race:


b

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

slave of estate of Isaac Deggs

Town:


LAN

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1804




LAN

CT

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM / count victim as overseer for now

Rela:    [HHLD] OVERSEER by SLAVE

Motive: ANGRY that overseer had ordered the accused's son to whip the accused's wife

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  Daniel (slave of Caty Bond) m. William Mitchell 


Weapon:  3 blows to the head with hoe


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment?  murder


Term?:  5/1804


Court proceedings:  fG.  Hanged.

Legal records:  
Lanc. Co. COB 14 May 1804


TESTIMONY:  ("another witness proved that the prisoner after striking the said William Mitchell pursued her and two other women to the door of the house which was shut against him that the prisoner then demanded money”; “was naked at the time he made the attack"; "the prisoner told this witness that the decedent William Mitchell had made his son whip his wife and he intended to have killed them both”; “it was also proved to the court that the said prisoner was a person of most infamous character.")

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

Daniel 

Ethnicity:



Race:


b

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  
m

Children:

yes, at least one

Occupation:

slave of Caty Bond

Town:


LAN

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

William Mitchell 

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

[prob. overseer for Caty Bond]

Town:


LAN

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1807




LAN

CT

Class:   probable

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    [NONDOM]

Motive:  UNK

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  William Hinton m. Sally Ashbourne


Weapon:  


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment?  murder


Term:  8/1807


Court proceedings:  fNG.

Legal records:  

Lanc. Co. COB 14 Aug 1807

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

William Hinton 

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


LAN

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

Sally Ashbourne

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

f

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


LAN

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1816, [Jan.]




LAN

CT

Class:   probable

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    [NONDOM] SLAVE by WHITE

Motive:  UNK

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  William Henry George m. James (slave of George Brent)


Weapon:  


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment?  charged with "killing a negro man slave"


Term:  1/17/1816


Court proceedings:  Had been released on bond pending hearing.  Sundry wit. heard.  Court:  "ought to be discharged from further prosecution."  [fNG]
Legal records:  

Orders 24:  1811-1818: 276.

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

William Henry George 

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


[LAN]

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

James 

Ethnicity:



Race:


b

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

slave of George Brent

Town:


LAN

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1827




LAN

CT

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    [NONDOM]

Motive:  UNK

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  John Roberts m. William Jefferson


Weapon:  "Shooting & killing" -- gun.


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment?  murder


Term?:  2/1827


Court proceedings:  committed to the jail.  fG.  Sent to Superior Court.

Legal records:  

Lanc. Co. COB 3 Feb 1827

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

John Roberts 

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m
Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


LAN

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

William Jefferson

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


LAN

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1828, May




Corrotoman, LAN

CT

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    NONDOM WHITE by SLAVE

Motive:  SEXUAL ASSAULT / ROBBERY

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:
noon

Days to death:  0


HOM:  Sam (slave of James Towles, orphan of Porteus Towles) and James (slave of Richard Selden's estate) m. [Miss] Bridgett N. George


Weapon:  Beat her with a "pine stick between 3 & 4 feet long about half seasoned with the bark on."  Raped her; stole her shoes.


Circumstances:  raped & murdered.


Inquest:  


Indictment?  murder


Term:  5/1828


Court proceedings:  O&T.  Sam pG, but was advised to change his plea to NG, which he did.  fG; sentenced to hang 20 Jun 1828 & to remain hanging 48 hrs.  James n.p.  (Ralph Edmonds the comm. atty.; Joseph W. Chinn, Esq., appointed to defend Sam).  Sam's value:  $375.

Legal records:  

Lanc. Co. COB 15 May 1828 (Oyer & Terminer).


Orders 27A, 19-23.


C. Jackson Simmons, "Twenty-Five Decades of Court History in Lancaster County," Northern Neck of Virginia Historical Magazine 34: 1 (Dec., 1984), 3893-5.


Sam had been runaway, eluding patrols & lying out in woods and swamps.  Prob. unknown to BNG, who set out in the morning in Corrotoman to walke 4 ot 5 mi. toward White Chapel to see her Uncle Payne.  Wore leather shoes lined with "coarse Virginia cloth" with a rip near one of the eyelets that had been sewed up & a small rip near the heel.  Shoes made & mended by Wm. H. Kesterson.  Wore gloves & petticoat made of the "stuff that tablecloths were made of."

TEST


William I. Payne:  saw her pass his house 10:40am., 4 mi. from where her body was found.


Fauntleroy N. Chilton:  saw her pass his house c. 11:40am.


Sukey (slave of Mrs. George):  talked to victim before the victim walked up the road.  Sam had then been nearby, 250 yards from Mrs. George's house.


Arch (slave of Delia Chilton):  saw Sam on the day victim was murdered in R. Chilton's field.  Sam had pair of shoes on identical to those which had been worn by Miss George & which were later identified by Kesterson.  Sam asked if Arch knew that Miss George was dead about 4 mi. up the road.


Col. John Crowning (high sheriff):  with Rawleigh Dunaway, examined the prisoner & induced him to confess the murder and rape.  Sam led them to the murder weapon (the pine stick).  JC sated that Sam told him that he had come to Mrs. George's early the morning of the murder & when Mrs. George came to Sukey's house, he hid in the loft.  Then he skulked in the woods & swamp & watched Sikey & Rawleigh Dunaway pass.

Newspaper:

Virginia Citizen (weekly newspaper, from a 4/1896 issue):  memoir of the execution by a man who had been a boy at the time.

Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

Sam 

Ethnicity:



Race:


b

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

slave of James Towles, orphan of Porteus Towles

Town:


LAN

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 1:  

James 

Ethnicity:



Race:


b

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

slave of Richard Selden's estate

Town:


LAN

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

Miss Bridgett N. George

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

f

Age:


[adult]

Literate:




Marital Status:

s
Children:




Occupation:



Town:


LAN

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1831




LAN

CT

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    MARITAL WIFE by HUSBAND

Motive:  UNK

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  George W. Booth m. Milly Booth (his wife)


Weapon:  "shot" -- gun.


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment?  murder


Term?:  10/1831


Court proceedings:  fG.  Sent to CSLC.

Legal records:  

Lanc. Co. COB 8 Oct 1831

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

George W. Booth 

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  
m. Milly

Children:




Occupation:



Town:


LAN

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

Milly Booth 

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

f

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:

m. George W. Booth

Children:




Occupation:



Town:


LAN

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1844




LAN

CT

Class:   possible

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    [NONDOM SLAVE by SLAVE]

Motive:  UNK

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  John (slave of Maria Yerby's estate) m. Lily (slave of Lawson George)


Weapon:  poisoned her "meat, bread spirit"


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment?  murder


Term?:  4/1844


Court proceedings:  O&T.  fNG.  HOWEVER, "John is a negro of notorious bad character and . . . it is in the interest of heirs, and to the community at large to dispose of and sell the said slave."

Legal records:  

Lanc. Co. COB 18 Apr 1844

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

John 

Ethnicity:



Race:


b

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

slave of Maria Yerby's estate

Town:


LAN

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

Lily

Ethnicity:



Race:


b

Gender:

f

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

slave of Lawson George

Town:


LAN

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1846, Sept. 21




LAN

CT

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    [NONDOM]

Motive:  UNK

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  0


HOM:  Thomas Taff m. Alvin (slave of James R. Stephens)


Weapon:  shot and killed.  "did shoot the aforesaid Alvin in the back just under the left shoulder & in the left arm on the elbow . . . mortal wounds, the said Alvin did linger and die on the 21st of Sept 1846"


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  i.d. 9/22/1846


Indictment?  murder


Term?:  9/1846


Court proceedings:  fNG

Legal records:  

Lanc. Co. COB 28 Sep 1846


Miscellanous Court papers:  28 Sep 1846:  Murder.  Thomas Taff shoots and kills Alvin, slave of James R. Stephens "did shoot the aforesaid Alvin in the back just under the left shoulder & in the left arm on the elbow . . . mortal wounds, the said Alvin did linger and die on the 21st of Sept 1846" [Coroner’s Inquest, 22 Sep 1846).

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

Thomas Taff 

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


LAN

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

Alvin 

Ethnicity:



Race:


b

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

slave of James R. Stephens

Town:


LAN

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1856




LAN

CT

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    [NONDOM]

Motive:  UNK

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  Bob, alias Robert, m. Thomas Jones 


Weapon:  "by stabbing or cutting"


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment?  yes, murder


Term?:  12/1856t


Court proceedings:  O&T.  fG of M-2.  Transportation.  Sold & transported "beyond the limits of the United States."

Legal records:  

Lanc. Co. COB  15 December 1856

Newspaper:
Census:  


1850C:  John L. Sullivan (p287):  15, m, w, b. Va, in school, lives with family of A. Hill Currie (28, m, w, teacher, $650 re) & his wife & child (3)


1850C:  Thomas Jones (280):  14, m, mulatto, b. Va., not in school, lives with family of Warren Beane (38, m, w, farmer $2000 re) & his wife & 2 ch (8 & 2)

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

Bob, alias Robert

Ethnicity:



Race:


b

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

slave of John L. Sullivan

Town:


LAN

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

Thomas Jones 

Ethnicity:



Race:


mulatto

Gender:

m

Age:


20

Literate:




Marital Status:

s

Children:




Occupation:



Town:


LAN

Birthplace:

Va

Religion:




Organizations:



1872




LAN

CT


Census done:  haven't searched all the Smiths, though

Class:   probable

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    [NONDOM]

Motive:  UNK

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


HOM:  Richard Kemm m. Philip Smith


Weapon:  


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment?  murder


Term?:  7/1872


Court proceedings:  fNG

Legal records:  
Lanc. Co. COB 15 Jul 1872


NOTE:  Lanc. Co. Crim. papers, 1807-98:  Richard Kemm, yeoman, fears for his life.  Secured peace bond agst. Hugh Hutchings.  10/25/1834.

Newspaper:
Census:  


1870C:  no Phillip Smith (may be Smiths)


1870C:  Mary Kemm (50, F, mulatto, at home, cannot read or write, b. Va, Mantua Twp, Lancaster.  In hhld of Samuel Carnaway (sp?) (at 37, sailor, $100 r.e., & his two children & his mother-in-law, Dorcas Salley (age 60))  M593 r. 1658, p. 182

Genealogy:

Not in Register of Deaths, 1870-1885

Accused 1:  

Richard Kemm 

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


[LAN]

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

Philip Smith

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

[LAN]

Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1882, Dec. 16




Monaskon, LAN
FILE
Class of death:   certain
Class of crime:   HOM
Relationship:    [NONDOM]
Motive:  
UNK
Intoxication?:  

Day of week:
Sat
Holiday?:


Time of day:


Days until death:  7

SUSPECT(s):
John R. Seward
VICTIM(s):
Addison Miller

Cause of death:  with a “double barrel breach loading shot gun.”  Shot “upon the thigh of the right leg near the groin.”  1 mortal wound.  Died 12/23/1882.  

Circumstances:   

Inquest:   


Indictment:  manslaughter:  “feloniously, willfully, and unlawfully” [no malice aforethought]  

Term of court:  

Court proceedings:  1st trial:  fG voluntary mansl.  1 to 5 years.  2nd trial:  fG of “misdemeanor.”  $5 fine.

Legal records:  
Lancaster County Court Records, Criminal, 1878-1882, Box 3

1882 / MURDER complaint, warrant:  J. E. Seward on 12/16/1882 at Monaskon, Lancaster County, shot Addison Miller with intent to kill.  And AM “has since died from the wound.”  Warrant to arrest JES issued by Thomas B. Robinson, j.p., 12/27/1882.  Admitted to $500  bond, 12/29/1882.  R. C. Wright & A. J. Seward, sureties.  [no indictment noted]

Lancaster County Court Records, Criminal, 1883-1888, Box 4

1883 / MANSLAUGHTER indictment, tb:  John R. Seward on 12/16/1882 assaulted Addison Miller with a “double barrel breach loading shot gun.”  “feloniously, willfully, and unlawfully” [no malice aforethought]  Shot “upon the thigh of the righ leg near the egroin.”  1 mortal wound.  Died 12/23/1882.  Witnesses:  Moses Dixon, Elias Taylor, William Taylor, and Stephen Miller.  File includes the instructions to the jury on the various charges.

1st trial:  fG voluntary mansl.  1 to 5 years.

2nd trial:  fG of “misdemeanor.”  $5 fine.

Newspapers:
Other sources:  
Census:  

1880 Lancaster Co. census
	Jno. SEWARD
	Household

	 
	 
	Male
	 

	 
	


	 
	Other Information:

	 
	 
	Birth Year
	<1819> 

	 
	 
	Birthplace
	VA 

	 
	 
	Age
	61 

	 
	 
	Occupation
	Farmer 

	 
	 
	Marital Status
	M <Married> 

	 
	 
	Race
	W <White> 

	 
	 
	Head of Household
	Jno. SEWARD

	 
	 
	Relation
	Self 

	 
	 
	Father's Birthplace
	VA 

	 
	 
	Mother's Birthplace
	VA 

	 
	


	 
	Source Information:

	 
	 
	Census Place
	White Chapel, Lancaster, Virginia 

	 
	 
	Family History Library Film
	1255375

	 
	 
	NA Film Number
	T9-1375

	 
	 
	Page Number
	123C  



No Addison Miller nearby in 1880 VA census

Genealogy:  

Suspect:  

John R. Seward

Ethnicity:



Race:


[w]
Gender:

m
Age:


[63]
Phys char:



Literate:



Marital Status:  
[m]
Children:



Occupation:

[farmer]
Town:




Birthplace:

VA
Religion:



Organizations:



Personal history:  


Victim:  

Addison Miller
Ethnicity:



Race:


[w]
Gender:

m
Age:


adult
Phys char:



Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Personal history:  


1883, Aug. 25




LAN
FILE
Class of death:   certain
Class of crime:   HOM
Relationship:    [NONDOM]
Motive:  
UNK
Intoxication?:  

Day of week:
Sat
Holiday?:


Time of day:


Days until death:  10

SUSPECT(s):
David Gitchell
VICTIM(s):
James Sheriden

Cause of death:  [sharp]  With a knife – struck “in and upon the abdomen or near the left groin.”  1 mortal wound, 1.5” long “and of sufficient depth to cut through the bowels.”  Died 9/4/1883.  

Circumstances:   

Inquest:   


Indictment:  murder, malice aforethought

Term of court:  

Court proceedings:  pNG.  His trial was removed to the Circuit Court.

Legal records:  
Lancaster County Court Records, Criminal, 1883-1888, Box 4

1883 / MURDER indictment, tb:  David Gitchell on 8/25/1883, James Sheriden, malice aforethought.  With a knife – struck “in and upon the abdomen or near the left groin.”  1 mortal wound, 1.5” long “and of sufficient depth to cut through the bowels.”  Died 9/4/1883.  Witnesses:  Warren Hubbard and Dr. William H. Kirk.  pNG.  His trial was removed to the Circuit Court.

Newspapers:
Other sources:  
Census:  

1880 census:  no DG in VA; no JS in Lancaster – none by family names, either
Genealogy:  

Suspect:  

David Gitchell

Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:

m
Age:


adult
Phys char:



Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Personal history:  


Victim:  

James Sheriden
Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:

m
Age:


adult
Phys char:



Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Personal history:  


1884, Feb. 2




LAN
FILE
Class of death:   certain
Class of crime:   HOM
Relationship:    [NONDOM]
Motive:  
UNK
Intoxication?:  

Day of week:
Sat
Holiday?:


Time of day:


Days until death:  0

SUSPECT(s):
Theodore Frank Carter
VICTIM(s):
Travis Dandridge

Cause of death:  [handgun] Pistol – shot in the left side.  1 mortal wound.  Died instantly.  

Circumstances:   

Inquest:   


Indictment:  murder, Malice aforethought

Term of court:  

Court proceedings:  fNG by the jury.

Legal records:  
Lancaster County Court Records, Criminal, 1883-1888, Box 4

1884 / MURDER indictment, tb:  Theodore Frank Carter on 2/2/1884 a. Travis Dandridge.  Malice aforethought.  Pistol – shot in the left side.  1 mortal wound.  Died instantly.  Witnesses:  Joseph Taylor and James Weaver.  fNG by the jury.

Newspapers:
Other sources:  
Census:  

1880 census in Lancaster:  a possibility for TFC

	Frank CARTER
	Household

	 
	 
	Male
	 

	 
	


	 
	Other Information:

	 
	 
	Birth Year
	<1852> 

	 
	 
	Birthplace
	VA 

	 
	 
	Age
	28 

	 
	 
	Occupation
	Farmer 

	 
	 
	Marital Status
	M <Married> 

	 
	 
	Race
	MU <Mulatto> 

	 
	 
	Head of Household
	Frank CARTER

	 
	 
	Relation
	Self 

	 
	 
	Father's Birthplace
	VA 

	 
	 
	Mother's Birthplace
	VA 

	 
	


	 
	Source Information:

	 
	 
	Census Place
	Mantua, Lancaster, Virginia 

	 
	 
	Family History Library Film
	1255375

	 
	 
	NA Film Number
	T9-1375

	 
	 
	Page Number
	110D  


	Travese DANDRIDGE
	Household

	 
	 
	Male
	 

	 
	


	 
	Other Information:

	 
	 
	Birth Year
	<1850> 

	 
	 
	Birthplace
	VA 

	 
	 
	Age
	30 

	 
	 
	Occupation
	Works On Farm 

	 
	 
	Marital Status
	M <Married> 

	 
	 
	Race
	B <Black> 

	 
	 
	Head of Household
	Travese DANDRIDGE

	 
	 
	Relation
	Self 

	 
	 
	Father's Birthplace
	VA 

	 
	 
	Mother's Birthplace
	VA 

	 
	


	 
	Source Information:

	 
	 
	Census Place
	White Stone, Lancaster, Virginia 

	 
	 
	Family History Library Film
	1255375

	 
	 
	NA Film Number
	T9-1375

	 
	 
	Page Number
	154B 


Genealogy:  

Suspect:  

Theodore Frank Carter

Ethnicity:



Race:


[mulatto]
Gender:

m
Age:


[32]
Phys char:



Literate:



Marital Status:  
[m]
Children:



Occupation:

[farmer]
Town:




Birthplace:

VA
Religion:



Organizations:



Personal history:  


Victim:  

Travis Dandridge
Ethnicity:



Race:


b
Gender:

m
Age:


34
Phys char:



Literate:



Marital Status:  
m
Children:



Occupation:

farm laborer
Town:




Birthplace:

VA
Religion:



Organizations:



Personal history:  


1885, Aug. 10




Clark’s Point, LAN
FILE
INQ
Class of death:   certain
Class of crime:   HOM
Relationship:    WORK EMPLOYEE by EMPLOYER
Motive:  
QUARREL
Intoxication?:  no
Day of week:
M
Holiday?:


Time of day:
noon
Days until death:  0

SUSPECT(s):
Ned Fields
VICTIM(s):
William Lucas

Cause of death:  [blunt]  “with a certain piece of an oar.”  1 mortal wound to the head.  Died instantly.

Circumstances:   
Inquest:   Inquest, i.d. 8/11/1885 on Clark’s Point at mouth of Ante Poison Creek by Henry S. Hathaway, j.p.  Killed on 8/10 by NF while WL “was in the creek into which he had been thrown by the said Ned Fields in a scuffle.”


Indictment:  murder, malice aforethought

Term of court:  

Court proceedings:  1st trial:  fG M-2.  8 yrs.  2nd trial:  fG of voluntary manslaughter.  3 yrs.

Legal records:  
Lancaster County Court Records, Criminal, 1883-1888, Box 4

1886 / MURDER indictment, tb:  Ned Fields on 8/10/1885 a. William Lucas, colored, malice aforethought, “with a certain piece of an oar.”  1 mortal wound to the head.  Died instantly.  1st trial:  fG M-2.  8 yrs.  2nd trial:  fG of voluntary manslaughter.  3 yrs.

Witnesses for Commonwealth:  Richard H. Ingram, James H. Hudnall, Dr. William M. Kirk, Clea Jackson, John Towles.

Witnesses for defense:  James H. Robinson, William Griffin, James Owens, James Marsh, John Griffin.

Inquest, i.d. 8/11/1885 on Clark’s Point at mouth of Ante Poison Creek by Henry S. Hathaway, j.p.  Killed on 8/10 by NF while WL “was in the creek into which he had been thrown by the said Ned Fields in a scuffle.”

TESTIMONY taken at S. H. Robertson’s Fish Factory on 8/11/1885

Richard H. Ingram (signed):  “I saw Capt. of Schr. Geo. W. Sanders (the prisoner now under arrest) and Wm Lucas making sail on said Schr.  I heard Wm Lucas call said Capt a Son of a Bitch.  The Capt said don’t repeat it.  Wm Lucas replyed he took nothing back & the Capt jerked the helm out and said Lucas seized it.  They then clinched & the Capt told him then to let him go, then the Capt walked down the cabin & got his poistol as the Capt came out of the cabin said Lucas got of the trunk of the cabin [sic?], after said Capt got out he pointed the pistol at Lucas.  Lucas said shoot & be damned.  Lucas picked up the cabin door and threw it at the Capt.  Door missed the Capt & Lucas jumped off the trunk on the Capt.  Both clinched & fell on the stern of the vessel, then the Capt. threw said Lucas overboard, as soon as Lucas came up he grabed [sic] a skiff which was astern of the Vessel, then the Capt jumped in the skiff & struck said Lucas with a piece of an oar, striking him on the head three times & missing him once.  I told the Capt. to pull him on the boat as he had killed him, then the Capt ran his oar down & tried to reach Lucas & said get hold of it you dam son of a bitch get hold of it.  I saw the body of Lucas recovered by a boat hood.  This occurred on the Evening” of 8/10/1885.

Clea Jackson (X):  When wit. first saw WL, WL was in the water.  Wit. saw the Captain “strike” WL “twice with a piece of an oar over the head.  I did not see any more of him until he was hauled up on the shore.”

Jonathan Towles (X):  saw the Capt. & WL “strugling [sic] together” “about Midday.”  [sic?  Conflict in time of day]  Saw WL jump down into the skiff & saw the Capt. hit WL over the head twice with a piece of an oar.

Newspapers:
Other sources:  
Census:  

1880 census in Lancaster:  no match for NF or WL
Genealogy:  

Suspect:  

Ned Fields

Ethnicity:



Race:


[w]
Gender:

m
Age:


adult
Phys char:



Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:

captain of the schooner Geo. W. Sanders
Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Personal history:  


Victim:  

William Lucas
Ethnicity:



Race:


b
Gender:

m
Age:


adult
Phys char:



Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:

sailor on the schooner Geo. W. Sanders
Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Personal history:  


1887, June 28




LAN
FILE
Class of death:   certain
Class of crime:   HOM
Relationship:    [NONDOM]
Motive:  
UNK
Intoxication?:  

Day of week:
T
Holiday?:


Time of day:


Days until death:  2

SUSPECT(s):
Frank Green

VICTIM(s):
James Robertson

Cause of death:  [handgun] with a pistol.  Shot, 1 mortal wound.  Died 6/30.  


Circumstances:   

Inquest:   


Indictment:  murder, malice aforethought


Term of court:  


Court proceedings:  11/1887t:  fNG

Legal records:  
Lancaster County Court Records, Criminal, 1883-1888, Box 4

1887 / MURDER indictment, tb:  Frank Green on 6/28/1887 a. James Robertson, malice aforethought, with a pistol.  Shot, 1 mortal wound.  Died 6/30.  11/1887t:  fNG.  

Witnesses for defense:  James L. Humphreys, Penny Wood, Thomas Walker, H. Jefferson, Thomas Jefferson

Witnesses for prosecution:  Lee Robertson (X), James S. W. Pinn

Newspapers:
Other sources:  
Census:  

1880 census in Lancaster:  9 Robertsons, all in 1 white family

11 Greens in several families, all blacks
Genealogy:  

Suspect:  

Frank Green

Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:

m
Age:


adult
Phys char:



Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Personal history:  


Victim:  

James Robertson

Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:

m
Age:


adult
Phys char:



Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Personal history:  


1890, Aug. 12




LAN
FILE
INQ
NOTE:  an uncertain case.  Seems that the deceased wandered away from the house and died of natural causes – no effort to conceal the body, which was found quite near the home where she had lived with the suspects.

Class of death:   uncertain / probable LEGAL CHIARIVARI
Class of crime:   HOM
Relationship:    HHLD
Motive:  
UNK
Intoxication?:  

Day of week:
T
Holiday?:


Time of day:


Days until death:  [0]

SUSPECT(s):
James Carter, Robert Carter, Betty Carter, Martin Richardson, and Walter Bee, Jr.
VICTIM(s):
Lydia Thomas

Cause of death:  “in some way and manner and by some means, agencies, weapons and instruments unknown.”  

Circumstances:   
Inquest:   i.d. 3/24/1891 by T. A. P. Pinckard on body of Lydia Thomas.  Verdict:  killed by James Carter, Robert Carter, Martin Richardson, and Walter Bee, Jr.


Indictment:  murder, malice aforethought:  against Walter Bee, James Carter, and Betty Carter

Term of court:  


Court proceedings:  

Legal records:  
Lancaster County Court Records, Criminal, 1889-1891, Box 5 

1891 / MURDER inquest i.d. 3/24/1891 by T. A. P. Pinckard on body of Lydia Thomas.  Verdict:  killed by James Carter, Robert Carter, Martin Richardson, and Walter Bee, Jr. on 8/11/1890.  Testimony:  W. M. Pinckard, T. S. Brent, Claudius Humphries, L. R. Gaskins, J. S. W. Pinn, Robert Brown (X).  

Indictment, tb:  Walter Bee, James Carter, and Betty Carter – malice aforethought – “in some way and manner and by some means, agencies, weapons and instruments unknown.”  Killed her on 8/12/1890.  

James Carter admitted to $200 bond on 3/25/1891.  Walter Bee, Jr., $500 bond on 4/20/1891.  

Witnesses for Commonwealth:  Rena Kelley, Louemma Smith, Jonathan Bundy, Charles Wildy, S. B. Skinner, H. J. Edmunds, Novella Smith, Casey Bundy, William K. Lee.

Witnesses for defense:  Margaret Lapscott, Ida Ball, Henry Teaker, J. J. Mercer, E. N. Mercer

Warrant for arrest of Bettie Carter, who was indicted for a felony [probably her involvement in the crime – the note is in the Thomas murder folder].

TESTIMONY

James Carter (X):  I don’t know anything about any fuss.  She was sick at Mr. Elmore’s first.  My wife asked me to let her come to my house.  I said remember you must tell her this is no place for a fuss.  She was sick at my house three weeks.  On Sunday my wife & myself went up to Veneys.  The 1st thing I said when I came back I asked Aunt Lydia how she felt.  She said right well.  On Monday morning I got up before sunrise to go to Mr. Lees to haul cord wood & left my wife in bed.  I went to Mr. Lee’s that Monday morning 7 he said to me I want you to go to the sawmill for me.  Next he said you get your breakfast here.  I went down to the mill got the lumber.  My cart broke down.  Mr. Lee got another wheel & told me to go on to hauling wood again.  When I got to my house my wife said to me where is Aunt Lydia.  I said indeed I don’t know. . . .  I sd I reckon she is down to Mrs. Elmores or Mrs. Hammonds & sd I will go & see.  Then I said to her what makes you want [to] know so about Aunt Lydia.  She said well you know Aunt Lydia has them crazy spells some times.  I turns around to my little girl.  She said Aunt Lydia went out of the gate & I sd she is down to Uncle Hammonds.


Aunt Lydia is no relation of mine & I [crossed out:  had nothing against her & what makes them want to say that I made away with her].  I told that I found that Mr. Skinners wife said she saw her pass her house that Monday morning she left.  Now the thanks Aunt Lydia gives me after taking care of her so well she has served me badly for she has left my house & left my wife sick in bed.  Lucius Haylett upon being asked about where she was said he knew nothing of her & cared less about it.  Henry Teagle sd . . . she was in Baltimore.  I heard this sometime since Christmas.  Mr. Lee was home that morning that I went there.  Aunt Lydia I knew her name & knew part of her mouth.  Upon looking at the hair he said I do not believe she was this grey.  I don’t know whether this occurred the Monday before St. J___s meeting or not.  No sir I will give you my word there was no one there but Aunt Lydia myself & my wife & children.  After I returned no one came to the door.  I left the house by myself.  Aunt Lydia was sitting up stairs at the window looking out when I left.  I was before sun up.  There was nobody at the house that night but the family.  I am positive about that.


I answered to someone who advised me to advertise for her I sd I wd advertise for her but she is a curious woman & she would think hard of my advertising for her.  I did not tell anybody that I would have advertised for her but was advised not to do it.  I cut wood down there along that path.  I cut on both paths.  I did not cut on the left hand path until last Sunday.  I never detected any smell around there.  There were several old cows & horses hauled around there & I did not notice much.  Walter Bee was at my house for me to remember was this March court gone 12 months.  He white washed my house in either July or August last year.  It was after the disappearance of Aunt Lydia.  Robert Carter & Martin Richardson were at my house some time in July.  Neither of them ever went with me on Monday as I went fromm my house.  They staid there before Aunt Lydia went away.  I am certain neither one of them were there the night before Aunt Lydia left.  I never heard anything about any clothes being found near the house.  I killed a dog belonging to John Smith.  He never quarreled with me but stopped speaking to me.”

Louisa Beane (X):  Sometime in February last, wit. asked Betty if she had heard from aunt “& she told me that Aunt Lydia was not dead but was in Balt.”  

William Lee (signed W. K. Lee):  “Jim Carter was hauling wood for Mr. Sherman & came over every Monday morning to get my oxen.  I settled up with him the last Saturday of the camp meeting & he did not haul any wood after that time.  He certainly did not come to my house on the Monday morning after the 2nd Monday for I settled with him the Saturday night previous.”

Bettie Carter (X):  “She went from my house 2nd Monday in August & left me sick in bed.  I knew nothing about where she went.  I had no fuss the Staurday night preceding this Mondays.  Had Jim Carter had any fuss with her:  No he had not.  I do not know when she left.  When she left I was asleep.  Jim left before she did & Martin Richardson & Robert Carter with him.  They spent the night at our house.  Robert stayed three weeks after she left.  This is the dress she had on the Sunday before she went away.  She packed up her clothes.  Or I found them afterwards packed up & this second mourning dress was not in with here clothes.  This Jersey was hers.  I recognize the Apron as belonging to her.  She had a tick ___ like the one shown & was accustomed to wear it.  I recognize the hair as hers.”

Charles Wildy (signed):  “We hunted the marshes & back of Roderick Segues [sp] & we said we would look around the hill.  We found these clothes & skull exhibited here about 200 yds down behind Jim Carters house.  There was no covering over either clothes or skull.  The skull was down under a blown down tree.  Found her clothes 1st close by a path not over 50 yds from it.  The wood around the path had been recently cut.  Bettie came down there said she knew the dress & arpon as Lydia Thomas.  She expressed no surprise.”

J. H. Passcott [sp?]:  “I went to Carters house to night.  We looked under the floor & found nothing.  Went up stiars & discovered a place up their about 2 feet long perfectly smooth & brighter than the rest of the [sic]  It might have been ___ [illegible] smooth with sand or a brick.  There was no impression of saw stroaks on this portion of the floor & we could see the saw stroaks plain on the balance of the floor.  It seemed to be about the centre between the two beds.  Did not see any spots.  There was a joint strip on the floor & we ripped that up & did not see any stains of any kind under the strip.”

MUCH MORE TESTIMONY, but all to the same effect:  Aunt Lydia disappeared, no one knew where or was saying where.  Suspicion fell on the Carters & their associates when the remains were found near the house.  SEEMS like natural causes to me.

Newspapers:
Other sources:  
Census:  
Eliza, James, and Robert are listed in 1880 Lancaster census as the wife and children of Moses Carter – but the age for Robert is too young to make him a possible suspect in 1890
	Eliza CARTER
	Household

	 
	 
	Female
	 

	 
	


	 
	Other Information:

	 
	 
	Birth Year
	<1858> 

	 
	 
	Birthplace
	VA 

	 
	 
	Age
	22 

	 
	 
	Occupation
	Keeping House 

	 
	 
	Marital Status
	M <Married> 

	 
	 
	Race
	B <Black> 

	 
	 
	Head of Household
	Moses CARTER

	 
	 
	Relation
	Wife 

	 
	 
	Father's Birthplace
	VA 

	 
	 
	Mother's Birthplace
	VA 

	 
	


	 
	Source Information:

	 
	 
	Census Place
	Mantua, Lancaster, Virginia 

	 
	 
	Family History Library Film
	1255375

	 
	 
	NA Film Number
	T9-1375

	 
	 
	Page Number
	105A 


	James CARTER
	Household

	 
	 
	Male
	 

	 
	


	 
	Other Information:

	 
	 
	Birth Year
	<1868> 

	 
	 
	Birthplace
	VA 

	 
	 
	Age
	12 

	 
	 
	Occupation
	 

	 
	 
	Marital Status
	S <Single> 

	 
	 
	Race
	B <Black> 

	 
	 
	Head of Household
	Moses CARTER

	 
	 
	Relation
	Son 

	 
	 
	Father's Birthplace
	VA 

	 
	 
	Mother's Birthplace
	VA 

	 
	


	 
	Source Information:

	 
	 
	Census Place
	Mantua, Lancaster, Virginia 

	 
	 
	Family History Library Film
	1255375

	 
	 
	NA Film Number
	T9-1375

	 
	 
	Page Number
	105A 


	Robert CARTER
	Household

	 
	 
	Male
	 

	 
	


	 
	Other Information:

	 
	 
	Birth Year
	<1879> 

	 
	 
	Birthplace
	VA 

	 
	 
	Age
	1 

	 
	 
	Occupation
	 

	 
	 
	Marital Status
	S <Single> 

	 
	 
	Race
	B <Black> 

	 
	 
	Head of Household
	Moses CARTER

	 
	 
	Relation
	Son 

	 
	 
	Father's Birthplace
	VA 

	 
	 
	Mother's Birthplace
	VA 

	 
	


	 
	Source Information:

	 
	 
	Census Place
	Mantua, Lancaster, Virginia 

	 
	 
	Family History Library Film
	1255375

	 
	 
	NA Film Number
	T9-1375

	 
	 
	Page Number
	105A


Genealogy:  

Suspect 1:  

James Carter

Ethnicity:



Race:


[b]
Gender:

m
Age:




Phys char:



Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Personal history:  


Suspect 2:  

Robert Carter

Ethnicity:



Race:


[b]
Gender:

m

Age:




Phys char:



Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Personal history:  


Suspect 3:  

Betty Carter

Ethnicity:



Race:


[b]
Gender:

f
Age:




Phys char:



Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Personal history:  


Suspect 4:  

Martin Richardson

Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:



Age:




Phys char:



Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Personal history:  


Suspect 5:  

Walter Bee, Jr.

Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:



Age:




Phys char:



Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Personal history:  


Victim:  

Lydia Thomas
Ethnicity:



Race:


b
Gender:

f
Age:


adult
Phys char:



Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Personal history:  


1895, Dec. 25




LAN
FILE
Class of death:   certain
Class of crime:   HOM
Relationship:    [NONDOM]
Motive:  
UNK
Intoxication?:  

Day of week:
W
Holiday?:
Christmas Day
Time of day:


Days until death:  1

SUSPECT(s):
Marcellus Morris
VICTIM(s):
Moses Loney

Cause of death:  [blunt] With a bar of iron.  “in and upon the right side of the head.”  1 mortal wound.  Died 12/26.

Circumstances:   

Inquest:   


Indictment:  murder, malice aforethought

Term of court:  1/1896t
Court proceedings:  fG voluntary manslaughter.  5 yrs.

Legal records:  
Lancaster County Court Records, Criminal, 1895-7, Box 7

1896 / MANSLAUGHTER complained:  complaint by Mitchel Blue that Syllus Morris on 12/25/1895 “feloniously and with malice did assault and cause to die” on 12/26/1895 Moses Loney.  Arrested.  

MURDER indictment, tb:  1/1896t:  Marcellus Morris on 12/25/1895 a. Moses Loney, malice aforethought.  With a bar of iron.  “in and upon the right side of the head.”  1 mortal wound.  Died 12/26.  fG voluntary manslaughter.  5 yrs.

Witnesses for defense:  Dr. W. J. Newbill, George Abrams, George Abrams, Jr., J. W. Cheever, George Reed, William Scott, Frank Ingram, Dink Yerby, John M. Robins, James Robinson.

Witnesses for Commonwealth:  Frank Burton, Joseph James, George Self, H. BV. Treakle, B. H. B. Hubbard, Jr., William G. Foxwell

Newspapers:
Other sources:  
Census:  

18 Morrises in 1880 Lancaster Co. census – all African Americans, many oystermen

Marcellus Morris in adjacent Middlesex County
	Marcellas MORRIS
	Household

	 
	 
	Male
	 

	 
	


	 
	Other Information:

	 
	 
	Birth Year
	<1862> 

	 
	 
	Birthplace
	VA 

	 
	 
	Age
	18 

	 
	 
	Occupation
	Laborer 

	 
	 
	Marital Status
	 

	 
	 
	Race
	B <Black> 

	 
	 
	Head of Household
	George MORRIS

	 
	 
	Relation
	Son 

	 
	 
	Father's Birthplace
	VA 

	 
	 
	Mother's Birthplace
	VA 

	 
	


	 
	Source Information:

	 
	 
	Census Place
	Jamaica, Middlesex, Virginia 

	 
	 
	Family History Library Film
	1255378

	 
	 
	NA Film Number
	T9-1378

	 
	 
	Page Number
	260D


No Moses Loney in 1880 VA census
5 Loneys or Lonas in Lancaster County 1880 census:  blacks & whites

Genealogy:  

Suspect:  

Marcellus Morris

Ethnicity:



Race:


[b]
Gender:

m
Age:


adult
Phys char:



Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Personal history:  


Victim:  

Moses Loney
Ethnicity:



Race:


[b]
Gender:

m
Age:


adult
Phys char:



Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Personal history:  


1896, Mar. 31




White Chapel, LAN

FILE

CENSUS:  assume that White Chapel is the district in which the suspects and victim lived – 
Class of death:   probable

Class of crime:   [NONDOM]

Relationship:    UNK

Motive:  


Intoxication?:  

Day of week:
T
Holiday?:


Time of day:


Days until death:  


SUSPECT(s):
William Grayhodge, James Waddy, Alvin Hill, Charles Parks, Allen Butler, Alf Sutton, and John Johnson (and Walter Smith for aiding and abetting)

VICTIM(s):
Charles Carter


Cause of death:  


Circumstances:   

Inquest:   


Indictment:  bnf

Term of court:  

Court proceedings:  Arrested on complaint by James Lockey, 4/6/1896.  Case heard & dismissed for costs.  WS:  “well knowing” JJ was guilty, “did take upon himself to conceal the said felony and murder” and help JJ escape.  Complaint by William Davis, 4/6/1896.  Arrested.  Case heard & dismissed for costs.

Legal records:  
Lancaster County Court Records, Criminal, 1895-7, Box 7

1896 / MURDER complaint:  William Grayhodge on 3/31/1896 murdered Charles Carter, malice aforethought.  Complaint by James Lockey, 4/6/1896.  Arrested.  Case heard & dismissed for costs.

MURDER complaint:  James Waddy on 3/31/1896 murdered Charles Carter, malice aforethought.  Complaint by James Lockey, 4/6/1896.  Arrested.  Case heard & dismissed for costs.

MURDER complaint:  Alvin Hill on 3/31/1896 murdered Charles Carter, malice aforethought.  Complaint by James Lockey, 4/6/1896.  Arrested.  Case heard & dismissed for costs.

MURDER complaint:  Charles Parks on 3/31/1896 murdered Charles Carter, malice aforethought.  Complaint by James Lockey, 4/6/1896.  Arrested.  Case heard & dismissed for costs.

MURDER complaint:  Allen Butler on 3/31/1896 murdered Charles Carter, malice aforethought.  Complaint by James Lockey, 4/6/1896.  Arrested.  Case heard & dismissed for costs.

MURDER complaint:  Alf Sutton on 3/31/1896 murdered Charles Carter, malice aforethought.  Complaint by James Lockey, 4/6/1896.  Arrested.  Case heard & dismissed for costs.

MURDER complaint:  John Johnson on 3/31/1896 murdered Charles Carter, malice aforethought, and Walter Smith, “well knowing” JJ was guilty, “did take upon himself to conceal the said felony and murder” and help JJ escape.  Complaint by William Davis, 4/6/1896.  Arrested.  Case heard & dismissed for costs.

Newspapers:
Other sources:  
Census:  
2 Charles Carters in 1880 Lancaster Co. VA census – nearly the same age, one white, one black

	Charles CARTER
	Household

	 
	 
	Male
	 

	 
	


	 
	Other Information:

	 
	 
	Birth Year
	<1876> 

	 
	 
	Birthplace
	VA 

	 
	 
	Age
	4 

	 
	 
	Occupation
	 

	 
	 
	Marital Status
	S <Single> 

	 
	 
	Race
	W <White> 

	 
	 
	Head of Household
	Peyton R. CARTER

	 
	 
	Relation
	Son 

	 
	 
	Father's Birthplace
	VA 

	 
	 
	Mother's Birthplace
	VA 

	 
	


	 
	Source Information:

	 
	 
	Census Place
	Mantua, Lancaster, Virginia 

	 
	 
	Family History Library Film
	1255375

	 
	 
	NA Film Number
	T9-1375

	 
	 
	Page Number
	109B  


	Charles CARTER
	Household

	 
	 
	Male
	 

	 
	


	 
	Other Information:

	 
	 
	Birth Year
	<1875> 

	 
	 
	Birthplace
	VA 

	 
	 
	Age
	5 

	 
	 
	Occupation
	At Home 

	 
	 
	Marital Status
	S <Single> 

	 
	 
	Race
	B <Black> 

	 
	 
	Head of Household
	Easter CARTER

	 
	 
	Relation
	Nephew 

	 
	 
	Father's Birthplace
	VA 

	 
	 
	Mother's Birthplace
	VA 

	 
	


	 
	Source Information:

	 
	 
	Census Place
	White Stone, Lancaster, Virginia 

	 
	 
	Family History Library Film
	1255375

	 
	 
	NA Film Number
	T9-1375

	 
	 
	Page Number
	151D 



No William Grayhodge in VA 1880 census

2 James Waddys in 1880 Lancaster County census:  probably the younger

	James WADDY
	Household

	 
	 
	Male
	 

	 
	


	 
	Other Information:

	 
	 
	Birth Year
	<1820> 

	 
	 
	Birthplace
	VA 

	 
	 
	Age
	60 

	 
	 
	Occupation
	Keeping House 

	 
	 
	Marital Status
	M <Married> 

	 
	 
	Race
	B <Black> 

	 
	 
	Head of Household
	James WADDY

	 
	 
	Relation
	Self 

	 
	 
	Father's Birthplace
	VA 

	 
	 
	Mother's Birthplace
	VA 

	 
	


	 
	Source Information:

	 
	 
	Census Place
	White Stone, Lancaster, Virginia 

	 
	 
	Family History Library Film
	1255375

	 
	 
	NA Film Number
	T9-1375

	 
	 
	Page Number
	161D


	James WADDY
	Household

	 
	 
	Male
	 

	 
	


	 
	Other Information:

	 
	 
	Birth Year
	<1878> 

	 
	 
	Birthplace
	VA 

	 
	 
	Age
	2 

	 
	 
	Occupation
	At Home 

	 
	 
	Marital Status
	S <Single> 

	 
	 
	Race
	B <Black> 

	 
	 
	Head of Household
	James WADDY

	 
	 
	Relation
	GSon <Grandson> 

	 
	 
	Father's Birthplace
	VA 

	 
	 
	Mother's Birthplace
	VA 

	 
	


	 
	Source Information:

	 
	 
	Census Place
	White Stone, Lancaster, Virginia 

	 
	 
	Family History Library Film
	1255375

	 
	 
	NA Film Number
	T9-1375

	 
	 
	Page Number
	162A 


	Alvin HILL
	Household

	 
	 
	Male
	 

	 
	


	 
	Other Information:

	 
	 
	Birth Year
	<1861> 

	 
	 
	Birthplace
	VA 

	 
	 
	Age
	19 

	 
	 
	Occupation
	Works On Farm 

	 
	 
	Marital Status
	S <Single> 

	 
	 
	Race
	MU <Mulatto> 

	 
	 
	Head of Household
	Delia HILL

	 
	 
	Relation
	Son 

	 
	 
	Father's Birthplace
	VA 

	 
	 
	Mother's Birthplace
	VA 

	 
	


	 
	Source Information:

	 
	 
	Census Place
	White Stone, Lancaster, Virginia 

	 
	 
	Family History Library Film
	1255375

	 
	 
	NA Film Number
	T9-1375

	 
	 
	Page Number
	161D


	Charles N. PARKS
	Household

	 
	 
	Male
	 

	 
	


	 
	Other Information:

	 
	 
	Birth Year
	<1877> 

	 
	 
	Birthplace
	VA 

	 
	 
	Age
	3 

	 
	 
	Occupation
	At Home 

	 
	 
	Marital Status
	S <Single> 

	 
	 
	Race
	MU <Mulatto> 

	 
	 
	Head of Household
	Jessee PARKS

	 
	 
	Relation
	Son 

	 
	 
	Father's Birthplace
	VA 

	 
	 
	Mother's Birthplace
	VA 

	 
	


	 
	Source Information:

	 
	 
	Census Place
	White Stone, Lancaster, Virginia 

	 
	 
	Family History Library Film
	1255375

	 
	 
	NA Film Number
	T9-1375

	 
	 
	Page Number
	151C



No Allen Butler, Alf Sutton in 1880 Lancaster Co. census

4 John Johnsons, 3 in White Stone, 2 black & 1 white


2 Walter Smiths in 1880 Lancaster Co. census

	Walter SMITH
	Household

	 
	 
	Male
	 

	 
	


	 
	Other Information:

	 
	 
	Birth Year
	<1871> 

	 
	 
	Birthplace
	VA 

	 
	 
	Age
	9 

	 
	 
	Occupation
	 

	 
	 
	Marital Status
	S <Single> 

	 
	 
	Race
	MU <Mulatto> 

	 
	 
	Head of Household
	Samuel SMITH

	 
	 
	Relation
	Son 

	 
	 
	Father's Birthplace
	VA 

	 
	 
	Mother's Birthplace
	VA 

	 
	


	 
	Source Information:

	 
	 
	Census Place
	Mantua, Lancaster, Virginia 

	 
	 
	Family History Library Film
	1255375

	 
	 
	NA Film Number
	T9-1375

	 
	 
	Page Number
	107A 


	Walter SMITH
	Household

	 
	 
	Male
	 

	 
	


	 
	Other Information:

	 
	 
	Birth Year
	<1870> 

	 
	 
	Birthplace
	VA 

	 
	 
	Age
	10 

	 
	 
	Occupation
	At Home 

	 
	 
	Marital Status
	S <Single> 

	 
	 
	Race
	B <Black> 

	 
	 
	Head of Household
	Easter SMITH

	 
	 
	Relation
	Son 

	 
	 
	Father's Birthplace
	VA 

	 
	 
	Mother's Birthplace
	VA 

	 
	


	 
	Source Information:

	 
	 
	Census Place
	White Stone, Lancaster, Virginia 

	 
	 
	Family History Library Film
	1255375

	 
	 
	NA Film Number
	T9-1375

	 
	 
	Page Number
	154B 


Genealogy:  

Suspect 1:  

William Grayhodge, Allen Butler, Alf Sutton, John Johnson (and Walter



Smith for aiding and abetting)

Ethnicity:



Race:


[b]
Gender:

m
Age:


adult
Phys char:



Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Personal history:  


Suspect 2:  

James Waddy

Ethnicity:



Race:


[b]

Gender:

m

Age:


[18]

Phys char:



Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Personal history:  


Suspect 3:  

Alvin Hill

Ethnicity:



Race:


[b]

Gender:

m

Age:


[35]

Phys char:



Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Personal history:  


Suspect 4:  

Charles Parks

Ethnicity:



Race:


[b]

Gender:

m

Age:


[19]

Phys char:



Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Personal history:  


Victim:  

Charles Carter

Ethnicity:



Race:


[b]
Gender:

m
Age:


[21]
Phys char:



Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:

VA
Religion:



Organizations:



Personal history:  


1900, Feb. 14




LAN
FILE
NOTE:  a case of self-defense?  Or of false claim that MS had been murdered?  Assume the former for now, given the formality of the proceedings.

Class of death:   probable
Class of crime:  HOM 

Relationship:    [NONDOM]
Motive:  
UNK
Intoxication?:  

Day of week:
W
Holiday?:


Time of day:


Days until death:  


SUSPECT(s):
Joseph Carter
VICTIM(s):
Moses Sanders

Cause of death:  


Circumstances:   

Inquest:   


Indictment:  bnf

Term of court:  


Court proceedings:  Arrested.  “Dismissed at the Cost of the Commonwealth” on 2/20/1900.  
Legal records:  
Lancaster County Court Records, Criminal, 1898-1901, Box 8

1900 / MURDER complaint by Dinah Sanders:  “she has good cause to suspect” that Joseph Carter on 2/14/1900 with “malice aforethought” murdered Moses Sanders.  Warrant 2/20/1900 by R. F. Dunaway, j.p.  Witnesses:  William Wormley, Lawrence Curry, Robert Warner, Sallie ball.  Arrested.  “Dismissed at the Cost of the Commonwealth” on 2/20/1900.
Newspapers:
Other sources:  
Census:  
29 Sanders in 1880 Lancaster Co. census:  some black families, some white families; no Moses or Dinah
136 Carters in 1880 Lancaster Co. census:  one Joseph

	Joseph CARTER
	Household

	 
	 
	Male
	 

	 
	


	 
	Other Information:

	 
	 
	Birth Year
	<1845> 

	 
	 
	Birthplace
	VA 

	 
	 
	Age
	35 

	 
	 
	Occupation
	Works On Farm 

	 
	 
	Marital Status
	M <Married> 

	 
	 
	Race
	B <Black> 

	 
	 
	Head of Household
	Joseph CARTER

	 
	 
	Relation
	Self 

	 
	 
	Father's Birthplace
	VA 

	 
	 
	Mother's Birthplace
	VA 

	 
	


	 
	Source Information:

	 
	 
	Census Place
	White Stone, Lancaster, Virginia 

	 
	 
	Family History Library Film
	1255375

	 
	 
	NA Film Number
	T9-1375

	 
	 
	Page Number
	156A 


Genealogy:  

Suspect:  

Joseph Carter

Ethnicity:



Race:


b
Gender:

m
Age:


[55]
Phys char:



Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Personal history:  


Victim:  

Moses Sanders
Ethnicity:



Race:


[b]
Gender:

m
Age:


adult
Phys char:



Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Personal history:  


Suspect(s





Suspect(s





Suspect(s





Suspect(s





Suspect(s








Suspect(s





Suspect(s





Suspect(s














Suspect(s





Suspect(s














